IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC11-2055

L.C. Case No. CRC92-17438-CFANO

Capital Case, Death Sentenced Appellant, Execution Set For November 15, 2011, at 4:00 p.m.

OBA CHANDLER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Direct Appeal from an October 24, 2011, Final Order of the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, Florida, Denying Appellant's Successive Motion to Vacate Three Death Sentences filed per Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2).

Baya Harrison, III 310 North Jefferson St. Monticello, Florida 32344

Fla. Bar No. 099568

Tel: 850.997.8469 and

850.997.5554

Fx: 850.997.5852

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Oba Chandler was the defendant in the trial court and is the appellant here. He will be referred to as "Chandler" or "the defendant." The State of Florida was the plaintiff in the trial court and is the appellee here. It will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal is in two volumes. The Clerk of the Circuit Court has placed a sequential page number at the bottom right-hand corner of each page. References to particular pages from the record will be by the letter "R" followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

a. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal from a final order of the circuit court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit of Florida that denied Chandler's motion to vacate his three death sentences filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2). (R2/pp. 191-210).

b. Jurisdiction:

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this appeal because this is a direct appeal of a final order that denied Chandler's post conviction relief in a capital case. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. "We have jurisdiction over all death penalty appeals." Parker v. State, 873 So. 2d 270, 275, f. 1 (Fla. 2004). This includes jurisdiction of direct appeals from final orders denying post conviction relief in capital cases. Parker v. State, 542 So. 2d 356-57 (Fla. 1989); §924.066, Fla. Stat. (1988); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(g).

c. Course of the Proceedings (part one):

On November 10, 1992, Chandler was indicted by a Pinellas County, Florida, grand jury on three counts of first-degree murder for the deaths of Joan Rogers and her daughters, Michelle and Christe Rogers, occurring on or between June 1-4, 1989. Chandler pled not guilty. His

trial was held on September 19-29, 1994. The jury, which was selected in Orange County, Florida, and brought to Pinellas County, Florida, for the trial, returned three verdicts of guilty as charged on September 29, 1994. Following the penalty phase of the trial, on September 30, 1994, the jury unanimously recommended death for each murder. (R2/p. 191.) Judge Schaeffer followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Chandler to death on November 4, 1994. (R1/pp. 17, 18).

Chandler filed a timely notice of appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida and raised seven points:

- 1. The trial court violated Chandler's due process right to a fair trial by admitting irrelevant evidence that he sexually battered Judy Blair.
- 2. Having found that Chandler had the right to remain silent regarding the facts of the pending sexual battery case (wherein Judy Blair was the alleged victim), the trial court violated that right by requiring him to repeatedly invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege before the jury in response to the state's questions about the sexual battery.
- 3. The trial court erred by allowing the state to present a prior consistent statement by Kristal Mays when her motive to fabricate existed before the statement was made.
- 4. The prosecutor's improper remarks in closing argument violated Chandler's due process right to a fair trial.
- 5. The trial court erred by accepting Chandler's waiver of his right to present mitigating testimony to the penalty phase jury because defense counsel did not state for the record what that testimony would be.

- 6. The trial court violated Amendment Eight to the United States Constitution by finding the mitigating circumstance of childhood trauma was not proven when the state conceded its existence.
- 7. The trial court erred by giving an unconstitutional jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance.

(R1/33, 34).

d. Statement of the Facts as found by the Florida Supreme Court on Direct Appeal:

After briefing of the issues and oral argument, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions, judgments and sentences and summarized the facts of the case as follows:

The record reflects that the body of Joan Rogers and those of her two daughters, Michelle and Christe, were discovered floating in Tampa Bay on June 4, 1989. Each body was nude from the waist down. Joan's hands were tied behind her back, her ankles were tied together, and the yellow rope around her neck was attached to a concrete block. Christe's hands and ankles were similarly tied, and she had duct tape on her face or head and a rope around her neck. Michelle's left hand was free with only a loop of rope attached, her ankles were bound, she had duct tape on her face or head, and the rope around her neck was attached to a concrete block.

The assistant medical examiner, Dr. Edward Corcoran, performed autopsies that same day. He determined that the cause of death for each victim was either asphyxiation due to strangulation from the ropes tied around their necks or drowning.

The Rogers family was vacationing in Florida and had checked into a Days Inn in Tampa on June 1. One week later, housekeepers notified the general manager that the Rogers' room had not been inhabited for several days. The general manager contacted the police, who secured the room and obtained the hotel's records for the room. The police subsequently found the Rogers' car parked at a boat ramp on the Courtney Campbell Causeway.

Among the items recovered from the car was a handwritten note on Days Inn stationery and a Clearwater Beach brochure. The note read, "Turn right. West W on 60, two and one-half miles before the bridge on the right side at light, blue w/wht." FBI agent James Mathis determined that the handwriting was that of Joan Rogers. Theresa Stubbs from FDLE determined that some of the handwriting on the Clearwater Beach brochure was Chandler's, while other writing may have been Joan Rogers'. Samuel McMullin, a fingerprint expert for the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Department, found Chandler's palm print on the brochure.

Rollins Cooper worked as a subcontractor for Chandler at the time of the murders. He testified at trial that on June 1, Chandler appeared to be in a big hurry after bringing Cooper some screen. When asked why, Chandler told Cooper that he had a date with three women. Cooper met Chandler the next morning at 7:05 a.m.; when asked why he looked grubby, Chandler replied that he had been out on his boat all night.

Judy Blair and her friend, Barbara Mottram, both Canadian tourists, testified regarding Chandler's rape of Blair several weeks prior to the Rogers' murders. After meeting the women at a convenience store, Chandler, who identified himself as "Dave," arranged to take them out on his boat the next day. The following morning, May 15, 1989, Mottram decided not to go out on Chandler's boat, so Blair met Chandler alone. Blair testified that Chandler seemed disappointed when told Mottram would not be joining them. After boating for several hours, Blair and Chandler returned to the

dock. Chandler asked Blair to get Mottram to join them for an after-dinner boat trip.

Again, Blair could not convince Mottram to join them. Blair testified that Chandler seemed "ticked off" when she told him Mottram would not be joining them. Subsequently, Chandler began making advances to Blair after the boat entered the Gulf of Mexico. Despite Blair's refusals and attempts to resist him, Chandler raped her. Chandler and Blair then returned to shore. The next day, Blair told Mottram what happened and reported the rape to the police. At trial, she identified the clothing Chandler had been wearing that night. Mottram picked Chandler's photograph out of a photo pack and identified him in a lineup and in court.

Chandler visited his daughter, Kristal Mays, and her husband Rick in Cincinnati in November 1989. Kristal later testified that Chandler told her he could not go back to Florida because the police were looking for him for killing some women. While Chandler never admitted to the killings, Kristal testified that he likewise never claimed innocence. Similarly, Rick Mays thought Chandler had committed the murders from the way he described how the police were looking for him as a murder suspect.

During another visit to Cincinnati in October 1990, Chandler had Rick Mays set up a drug deal. Before absconding with some of the drug dealers' money, Chandler put a gun to Rick's head and said, "Family don't mean s___ to me." After Chandler fled, Rick was badly beaten up and almost killed. The Mays' house was also damaged by the drug dealers. This series of incidents forced Kristal Mays to drop out of nursing school. She was upset and told Rick to call the police and report that Chandler "put a gun on him."

After Chandler was arrested in September 1992, Kristal was contacted and cooperated with the police and she began to tape their conversations. She gave a sworn statement to the state attorney's office on October 6, 1992. Kristal had been convicted of a crime involving dishonesty and appeared on the television show *Hard Copy* in 1994 to discuss her father's alleged role in the murders in return for a \$1000 fee.

Robert Carlton testified that he bought a blue and white boat from Chandler in July or August 1989. Carlton recalled seeing concrete blocks at the Chandler house and that some of the concrete blocks had three holes and some had two.

Arthur Wayne Stephenson shared a cell with Chandler for ten days in late October 1992. He testified at trial that after viewing television reports about the recovery of the victims' bodies from Tampa Bay, Chandler said that he had met the three women and given them directions to a boat ramp on the Courtney Campbell Causeway. Chandler told Stephenson that one of the girls was very attractive.

Blake Leslie, an inmate at the Pinellas County Jail with Chandler in the fall of 1992, testified that Chandler told him that he took a young lady from another country for a ride in his boat. Her friend did not want to go. Once he got out twenty to thirty miles, Chandler told her to have sex with him or swim for it. Chandler allegedly said that the only reason that woman was still around is because somebody was waiting for her at the boat dock. Leslie, who had been convicted of nine felonies, never heard Chandler speak of murders, only rapes.

Several marine operators for G.T. testified to collect calls made from a caller identifying himself as Oba, Obey, Obie, or no personal name and his boat as Gypsy or Gypsy One, from March 17 to June 2, 1989. The calls were placed to a number registered to Debra Chandler, Chandler's wife. One of the operators, Elizabeth Beiro, testified that she received three collect calls for Debra Chandler's telephone number, at 1:12 and 1:30 a.m. on June 2, 1989. The caller did not give a first name, although he identified his boat as Gypsy One. Later that same morning, at

9:52 a.m., Frances Watkins received a collect call from Gypsy One; the caller identified himself as Obie.

Chandler testified that he met Michelle Rogers when he stopped at a gas station. He testified that he had a very brief conversation with Michelle, giving her directions to the Days Inn on Highway 60. Chandler maintained that he never saw any of the Rogers family again after this short encounter and adamantly denied killing them. He also testified that he never told Rollins Cooper that he had a date with three women. Chandler claimed that he was out on his boat all night because his engine died after a hose burst, spilling all of his fuel. He testified that two men in a boat gave him a tow to Gandy Bridge Marina, where he put some fuel in his boat. In rebuttal, James Hensley, a certified boat mechanic, testified that Chandler's fuel line was possibly still the original, was in good shape, and showed no signs of repair. Hensley stated that even if there had been a hole in the fuel line, it would not have leaked because of the anti-siphoning valve.

When asked about details surrounding the rape of Judy Blair, Chandler invoked his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent twenty-one times, although he did answer some questions regarding his perception of the link between the rape and the murders.

After the jury trial concluded, Chandler was found guilty of all three counts of murder on September 29, 1994. The jury reconvened for the penalty phase the next day. During the penalty phase, Chandler waived the presentation of any testimonial mitigating evidence. However, he did present some documentary evidence, including records showing that he obtained his high school equivalency diploma and earned college credits while in prison. The State presented the judgments and sentences of Chandler's prior armed robberies. The robbery victims also testified about the details of those crimes.

Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 189-91 (Fla. 1997).

f. Course of the Proceedings (part two):

A motion for rehearing was denied.

Chandler filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. He raised the following question:

Where the defendant had answered certain questions about a related offense and defense counsel informed the jury that the State could prove the related offense, did the state trial court violate the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments by allowing the prosecutor to cross-examine the petitioner about the facts of his capital murder trial, resulting in the defendant repeatedly invoking his Fifth Amendment privilege before the jury?

(R1/p. 34).

The petition for certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court on April 20, 1998. *Chandler v. Florida*, 523 U.S. 1083, 118 S. Ct. 1535 (1998).

To toll the one-year limitation period applicable to petitions for federal habeas relief, see 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d), Chandler filed a "shell" motion to vacate in state court pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on June 17, 1998, setting forth 32 claims for relief. Discovery and public records litigation ensued. On May 5, 1999, the trial court granted a defense request for an extension of time to amend the Rule 3.850 motion.

On July 28, 1999, the undersigned was appointed registry counsel to represent Chandler regarding his post-conviction claims. On May 30, 2000, Chandler filed a complete, amended 3.850 motion raising seven claims alleging generally that he was denied effective assistance of counsel at trial for:

- 1. Failure to prevent the prosecutor from making improper, prejudicial arguments to the jury.
- 2. Ineffective assistance in dealing with the matter of venue.
- 3. Failure to protect Chandler regarding the admission of evidence of a similar crime that was admitted pursuant to *Williams v. State*, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959).
- 4. Failure to protect the defendant from cross-examination regarding the similar crime evidence.
- 5. Failure to investigate and present the defense that someone else had committed the homicides.
- 6. Failure to investigate and present an expert witness to rebut the state's expert witness on boat fuel lines.
- 7. Causing prejudicial statements regarding Chandler to be entered at trial.

(R1/pp. 35). The state filed a response with exhibits on August 11, 2000. Following a *Huff*¹ hearing held on September 15, 2000, the post-conviction court ruled that an evidentiary hearing was necessary only on Chandler's claim regarding ineffective assistance of counsel as it related

Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

to certain Williams² Rule evidence. An evidentiary hearing was held on November 20, 2000, and the post-conviction court entered an order denying Chandler's 3.850 motion, with appendix, on June 28, 2001. (R1/p. 35).

Chandler timely appealed the post-conviction court's decision to the Florida Supreme Court on July 2, 2001. He raised the following issues (R.1/pp. 35, 36):

- 1. Did the trial court err by denying Chandler an evidentiary hearing regarding his claim that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to seek a venue change from Orange County?
- 2. Did the trial court err by not finding that defense counsel was ineffective for admitting that Chandler was guilty of the Blair sexual battery and in instructing his client to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination regarding same?
- 3. Did the trial court err in not finding that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's improper closing argument?

 He also cited the holding in Ring v. Arizona, 534 U.S. 1103 (2002), as supplemental authority. This Court specifically considered the Ring claim (Chandler, infra 848 So. 2d at 1034; see also R2/173, 174)) but on April 17, 2003, rejected all of these post conviction claims. Chandler v.

State, 848 So. 2d 1031, (Fla. 2003). Rehearing was denied.

18

 $^{^2}$ Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla.), cert. denied, 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

On June 27, 2003, Chandler filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2254 in the United States District Court, Middle District, Florida in Case No. 8:03-cv-1347-T-30TGW. The grounds raised were that defense counsel:

- 1. Failed to move for change of venue for jury selection.
- 2. Was ineffective for conceding the Blair sexual battery.
- 3. Was ineffective for advising Chandler to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege regarding the Medeira Beach sexual battery.
- 4. Was ineffective for not objecting to statements made by the prosecutor during closing arguments.

 (R.1/p. 36).

The state filed its response on November 6, 2003. Chandler filed a reply thereto on December 5, 2003. On February 8, 2006, the Hon. James S. Moody, United States District Judge, entered an order denying Chandler's request for an evidentiary hearing and summarily denying the habeas petition. Chandler v. Crosby, 454 F.Supp. 2d 1137 (Fla. M.D. 2006). Judgment was entered on February 9, 2006.

On February 13, 2006, Chandler filed a timely notice of appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit (Case No. 06-11190-P), and an application for certificate of appealability with the United States

District Court, Middle District, Florida, on March 6, 2006. He raised one issue: Whether he was denied the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to move for a second change of venue. (R1/p. 37). Chandler's application was denied on May 16, 2006, and on May 26, 2006, he filed his renewed application for certificate of appealability to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. On June 21, 2006, a certificate of appealability was granted as to the one issue: the alleged ineffective assistance of trial counsel in failing to file a second motion for change of venue. The Eleventh Circuit rejected this claim and affirmed the denial of habeas corpus relief on December 18, 2006. Chandler v. McDonough, 471 F.3d 1360 (11th Cir. 2006).

Chandler sought certiorari review of the Eleventh Circuit's denial of habeas corpus relief in the United States Supreme Court on March 15, 2007 (Case No. 06-10141). The petition was denied on May 14, 2007. Chandler v. McDonough, 550 U.S. 943, 127 S. Ct. 2269 (2007).

On October 10, 2011, the Hon. Rick Scott, Governor of Florida, signed Chandler's death warrant. (R1/p. 2.) The execution date has been set for November 15, 2011, at 4:00 p.m. (R1/p. 2).

On October 17, 2011, Chandler filed a successive motion to vacate his three death sentences per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2) and the appropriate subsections of Rule 3.851(e)(1), with a request for a stay of execution. (R1/pp. 75-99). He did not request an evidentiary hearing under Rule 3.851(e)(1(D). Instead he sought relief under subsection (e)(1)(E) regarding a "purely legal or constitutional claim upon which an evidentiary hearing is not required." (R1/p. 104). On October 18, 2011, the state filed a response. (R2/pp. 166-189.) On October 21, 2011, a hearing on the motion was held before the Hon. Philip J. Federico, Circuit Judge in Clearwater, Florida. (R2/pp. 256 -280). Chandler specifically asked not to attend the hearing in person but to appear by telephone. (R1/pp. 150-153.) After making certain that Chandler understood that he could attend the hearing in person if he chose, his request was granted by Judge Federico. (R2/p. 192).

g. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal:

On October 24, 2011, Judge Federico rendered a written final order denying the Rule 3.851(e)(2) motion as well as the request for a stay. (R2/pp. 191-210). On that same day, Chandler filed a notice of appeal of Judge Federico's final order to this Court. (R2/pp. 211, 212).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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