IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OBA CHANDLER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. SC11-2055 L.T. No. CRC 92-17438 CFANO

DEATH WARRANT SIGNED EXECUTION SCHEDULED November 15, 2011, 4:00 p.m.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA Chief Assistant Attorney General Capital Appeals Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0445071 candance.sabella@myfloridalegal.com

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

#### B. The Sixth Amendment Claim Is Procedurally Barred

Chandler's successive motion was also properly denied as procedurally barred. The Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial claim now being presented to this Court has never been briefed and/or argued to any court on behalf of Chandler prior to the filing of this successive motion. None of the objections presented at trial, in Chandler's seven (7) claims raised on direct appeal, seven (7) claims raised in the Rule 3.850 or three (3) claims raised in the postconviction appeal mention, much less substantively address, a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. It is well settled that claims that could have been and should have been raised in a prior proceeding cannot be relitigated in a successive postconviction motion unless the movant can demonstrate that the grounds for relief were not known and could not have been known at the time of the earlier proceeding. See, Darling v. State, 45 So. 3d 444, 448 (Fla. 2010) (finding claim procedurally barred where defendant failed to assert in prior postconviction proceedings); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 513 n. 10 (Fla. 1999) (stating that claim raised in earlier postconviction motion is barred in subsequent postconviction motion even if based on different

facts); Atkins v. State, 663 So. 2d 624, 626 (Fla. 1995) (explaining that issues that were or could have been presented in a postconviction motion cannot be relitigated in a subsequent postconviction motion).

While Appellant conceded below that "the issue raised herein was not raised on direct appeal or on collateral review," he appears to rest his argument here solely on the contention that these cases should afford him resentencing because the "right asserted in this case is not a new right, but one of the most fundamental and long-standing of our constitutional principles." Initial brief at pg. 41. It is exactly this reason that this claim is procedurally barred. Both this Court and the Eleventh Circuit have found this claim procedurally barred because it was available to be raised and was not.<sup>2</sup> See, *Evans v*. *State*, 946 So. 2d 1, 15-16 (Fla. 2006) (finding *Ring* claim

 $<sup>^{2}\ \</sup>mbox{Moreover},$  the law in effect at the time of his trial is of no benefit to him on this issue. See, Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 649 (1990) (upholding judge-imposed death sentences because the additional facts found by the judge qualified as sentencing considerations, not as "element[s] of the offense of capital murder"); Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) (joint opinion of Stewart, Powell, and Stevens, JJ) (noting Court has never suggested that jury sentencing in a capital case is constitutionally required); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984) (Sixth Amendment not offended by judge imposing sentence death where jury has recommended sentence of life of imprisonment); Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989) (Sixth Amendment does not forbid judge to make written findings that authorize imposition of death sentence when jury unanimously recommends death sentence).

barred for failure to raise at trial and on direct appeal while Ring in "pipeline.") See, also, Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1282 (11th Cir. 2003) (rejecting argument that claim was not barred because settled law pre-Ring did not provide a legal basis for the claim.) He does not explain why he made no attempt to raise the claim until the eve of his execution.

The only nod to the Sixth Amendment challenge presented herein ever made by Chandler was a Notice of Supplemental Authority provided to this Court during the postconviction appeal, shortly after he filed his initial brief. This Court addressed the Notice in a footnote stating:

FN4. In a notice of supplemental authority, Chandler asks this Court to take judicial notice of three cases: Ring v. Arizona, 534 U.S. 1103, 122 S.Ct. 865, 151 L.Ed.2d 738 (2002), State v. Ring, 200 Ariz. 267, 25 P.3d 1139 (2001), and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). Aside from filing the notice, Chandler provides no argument other than that the cases "may be relevant to the issues raised in this cause." Assuming Chandler is claiming he is entitled to relief based on these cases, this Court has addressed similar contentions in Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070, 123 S.Ct. 662, 154 L.Ed.2d 564 (2002), and King v. Moore, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067, 123 S.Ct. 657, 154 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), and denied relief. We find that Chandler is likewise not entitled to relief.

Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1034 n.4 (Fla. 2003).

Although this Court noted that it consistently denied relief on the claim and that Chandler is "likewise not entitled

to relief," it is the State's position that since the claim was not properly before the Court this statement does not constitute an actual ruling on the merits for purpose of federal review and this Court should make that clear for the federal courts whose review will follow. Clearly, under Florida law filing a Notice of Supplemental Authority concerning an issue that was not and had never been raised was not sufficient to put the claim before the court. In Doorbal v. State, 983 So. 2d 464, 482 (Fla. 2008), this Court explained that "to merely refer to arguments presented during the postconviction proceedings without further elucidation is not sufficient to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived." Chandler did not even go that far. The Notice of Supplemental Authority referred to issues that had never been raised in any court on Chandler's behalf. If Appellant had wanted to raise the issue, he could have requested the opportunity to file supplemental briefing which would have allowed for full briefing by both the defense and the State.

If Chandler had done so, the State would have been able to defend with the fact that it had not been raised in the postconviction motion and was not properly before the Court. Additionally, the claim would also have been barred in Chandler's initial motion to vacate as postconviction

proceedings are not second appeals and this is an issue that could have been and should have been raised on direct appeal, and Chandler did not preserve this claim by challenging the constitutionality of Florida's sentencing scheme at trial or on direct appeal. See, Evans, 946 So. 2d at 15-16 (finding Ring claim barred for failure to raise at trial and on direct appeal while Ring in "pipeline."); Zommer v. State, 31 So. 3d 733, 752 (Fla. 2010) ("Given the absence from the record of any motion or argument that presented the [Ring] claims raised here to the trial court, we conclude that this issue has not been preserved for review"); Israel v. State, 985 So. 2d 510, 519 (Fla. 2008) (*Ring* claim procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings.) Chandler was required to present his Sixth Amendment claim to the trial court and on direct appeal just as Mr. Walton<sup>3</sup> and Mr. Ring did even though the law was not in their favor. If, as Chandler now claims, the rights he asserts he was denied have always existed, then the issue should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal. Because he did not do so, this claim would have been, and remains, procedurally barred.

Whether the *Ring* claim was presented to this Court in the initial postconviction appeal, and the Court's discussion of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990) the United States Supreme Court rejected some of the very claims it later partially overturned in *Ring*.

Notice of Supplemental Authority in the footnote constituted a ruling on the merits or not, the claim is barred in this successive motion. *Grim v. State*, 971 So. 2d 85, 103 (Fla. 2007) ("Because we rejected a similar *Ring* claim on direct appeal, Grim's present *Ring* claim is procedurally barred.") Further, even if this were an initial motion, and if the Sixth Amendment claim had been raised at trial and it was properly raised in a postconviction proceeding, it would also be untimely as it is not within a year of the judgment and sentence becoming final.

Accordingly, the lower court properly denied the successive motion as untimely.

# C. <u>Chandler's Prior Violent Felony Convictions Make Ring</u> Inapplicable

Even absent the considerable procedural hurdles that Chandler cannot overcome to obtain consideration of the merits of his argument, he is still not entitled to relief. Chandler was convicted of three counts of first degree murder, as well as having two prior convictions for robbery committed with a firearm. (TR V68/R11521) Additionally, the jury recommended death in each of the three murders by a vote of 12-0. (TR V102/T2827-28)

The Sixth Amendment challenge at issue in *Ring* does not apply where one of the aggravating circumstances is a prior

violent felony conviction as *Ring* does not require a jury finding of an aggravating factor based on a prior conviction. See, *Ring*, 536 U.S. at 597, n.4; *Almendarez-Torres v. United States*, 523 U.S. 224 (1998).<sup>4</sup> As this Court noted in *Rigterink v. State*, 66 So. 3d 866, 895-896 (Fla. 2011), quoting, *Frances v. State*, 970 So. 2d 806, 822 (Fla. 2007), "*Ring* did not alter the express exemption in *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), that prior convictions are exempt from the Sixth Amendment requirements announced in the cases."

Chandler's argument concerning the consideration of the prior violent felony aggravators suggests that even the fact of a prior conviction must be found by the jury because *Ring* requires that juries make all of the findings necessary to support a death sentence. To the contrary, *Ring* does not require jury sentencing, only that a jury convict the defendant of a death-eligible offense. *Ring*, 536 U.S. at 597 n.4. This Court has held that, in Florida, a defendant is eligible for the death penalty upon a conviction for first degree murder. *Shere* v. *Moore*, 830 So. 2d 56, 62 (Fla. 2002); *Mann* v. *Moore*, 794 So. 2d 595, 599 (Fla. 2001); *Mills* v. *Moore*, 786 So. 2d 532, 536-37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under Florida law, contemporaneous murders qualify as prior violent felonies. *Knight v. State*, 746 So. 2d 423, 434 (Fla. 1998) (finding each of the contemporaneous murders qualifies as prior violent felony conviction.)

(Fla.), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 1015 (2001). Since death is the statutory maximum for first degree murder in Florida and prior convictions are exempt from the Sixth Amendment requirements announced in *Ring/Apprendi*, Chandler's argument that his sentence is invalid absent a jury finding on the prior 1976 and 1992 robbery convictions is simply baseless. (TR V68/R11521)

Even the district court judge in Evans v. McNeil, upon which Appellant places so much reliance, recognized that Ring "in certain respects, has a limited holding." ([D.E. 21] at 89) Evans clearly recognized that Ring presented a narrow claim; that Ring was not challenging Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224 (1998), which held that the fact of a prior conviction may be found by the judge even if it increases the statutory maximum sentence. ([D.E. 21] at 86) Therefore, even though Evans determined that the Florida capital sentencing statute violates Ring, it did not attempt to expand Ring to make it applicable to cases where a prior violent felony has been established.

Chandler also asserts that Florida's constitutional right to a jury trial is "broader" than the Sixth Amendment and "extends to the finding of a prior conviction." (Initial Brief at pg. 41). Chandler submits that *State v. Harbaugh*, 754 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 2000), requires a jury finding of a prior conviction

whenever a prior conviction "results in a reclassification of an offense to a higher degree and higher punishment." *Harbaugh* concerned the role of the jury in convicting a defendant of felony DUI, which necessarily required, as an element of the offense, the existence of prior DUI convictions. *Harbaugh* did not address any offense reclassification or enhanced punishment, only the essential elements of felony DUI.

Chandler's basic argument, that *Harbaugh* expanded the right to a jury trial under Florida law to include determination of the fact of a prior conviction, still fails to explain why he did not present this claim previously. He asserts that the district court decision in *Harbaugh* was released before his sentences were final on direct appeal, but offers no reason why he did not present a jury trial claim under *Harbaugh* at that time, or even in his postconviction proceedings, by which time this Court had reviewed and decided the case. Accordingly, his current claim was properly denied as untimely and procedurally barred. Further, as the lower court found, it has never been held to apply retroactively and provides no suggestion that its reasoning should be applied to cases that have been final for many years. (SPCR V2/198) Additionally, it is without merit.

Harbaugh did not extend Florida's jury trial right beyond the scope of the Sixth Amendment. Rather, Harbaugh is grounded

squarely in the right to a jury trial as required by the federal constitution. This Court deemed the holding in Harbaugh to be required by United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506 (1995). The conviction at issue in Gaudin arose when the defendant was charged with making material, false statements to a federal agency. The materiality of the statements was unquestionably an element of the offense and had nothing to do with the sentence to be imposed. The entire analysis in Gaudin turns on whether the Sixth Amendment required jury findings on mixed questions of law and fact, as opposed to those elements of an offense which were purely factual in nature. Consequently, this Court applied Gaudin in Harbaugh to require jury findings on every essential element of every offense, even when the element was a seemingly legal question as to the existence of a prior conviction. However, neither Gaudin nor Harbaugh preclude the use of prior convictions for sentencing purposes. See, Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 228.

The lower court rejected this claim explaining, in pertinent part:

Additionally, unlike the cases relied upon by Chandler, a prior conviction is not an element of the crime committed. Here, Chandler was charged and convicted of three counts of first degree murder, which requires the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing of the victim was unlawful and perpetrated from a premeditated design. was § 782.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1988). Thus, the jury was not

required to prove that Chandler had a prior conviction in order to convict him of first degree murder. Even if the jury was required to do so, as discussed above, by convicting Chandler of all three murders, the jury would have unanimously found for each death sentence imposed the existence of the prior capital felony aggravator through the contemporaneous murders And while Chandler argues that these cases are similar in concept to the death penalty scheme that requires aggravating factors in order to impose the death penalty, these cases concern reclassifying an offense, while Chandler's concern is with the imposition of the death penalty instead of a life sentence.

#### (SPCR V2/197-98)

Further, as the lower court noted, even if the procedures outlined in *Harbaugh* were in any way applicable, Chandler's jury was presented with these convictions and made 12-0 death recommendations. (TR V102/T2765-66, 2767-2778, 2786-2794) Thus, he was given the consideration that he now claims he was denied.

Moreover, this Court in Harbaugh expressly found that the failure to present the prior convictions to the jury could be harmless. Harbaugh, 754 So. 2d at 694. See, also, Johnson v. State, 994 So. 2d 960, 965-66 (Fla. 2008), (finding error to be harmless in light of record of prior DUIs, "The jury would have likelv found the existence of the three previous DUI convictions.") Just as Johnson "did not (and seemingly could not) produce any facts to contest the accuracy of the driving record," id., Chandler has not offered any facts contesting the accuracy of the convictions for the prior violent felonies.

Thus, error, if any, would be harmless. See, also, *Galindez v*. State, 955 So. 2d 517, 523 (Fla. 2007) (finding errors under State v. Hargrove, 694 So. 2d 729, 730 (Fla. 1997) and State v. Overfelt, 457 So. 2d 1385, 1387 (Fla. 1984), subject to harmless error review.)

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